COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between:

MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED (hereinafter called the "Employer")

(MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED &
MON SHEONG SCARBOROUGH LONG TERM CARE CENTRE)

And:

ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION (hereinafter called the "Association")

Expiry Date: March 31, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE	2
ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE AND RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS	3
ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 5 - NO STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	5
ARTICLE 6 - ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION	5
ARTICLE 7 - ASSOCIATION SECURITY	7
ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES	7
ARTICLE 9 - JOB SECURITY	10
ARTICLE 10 - EMPLOYEE FILES	
ARTICLE 11 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	15
ARTICLE 12 - PAID HOLIDAYS	21
ARTICLE 13 – VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 14 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG TERM DISABILITY	25
ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK	26
ARTICLE 16 - PREMIUM PAYMENT	
ARTICLE 17 – MISCELLANEOUS	32
ARTICLE 18 – BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 19 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 20 - PROFESSIONAL	
ARTICLE 21 - ORIENTATION AND IN-SERVICE	
ARTICLE 22 – COMPENSATION	
ARTICLE 23 – DURATION	
APPENDIX "A"	
SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX "B"	
ROSTER OF CHAIRPERSONS FOR THE NURSING ASSESSMENT COMMIT	TEE
	46
APPENDIX "C"	47
GRIEVANCE FORM	47
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	48
Re: Effect of Agreement Pursuant to Article 19.01 (c)	48
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	
Re: Selection Of Chairperson for the Nursing Assessment Committee	49
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	10 50
Re: Liability Insurance	
•	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	
Re: Staffing	51

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE

- 1.01 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish by mutual agreement an orderly collective bargaining relationship between the Employer and the nurses concerned, and to provide for the prompt disposition of grievances, to establish and maintain mutually acceptable working conditions, hours of work, and wages for all nurses within the bargaining unit.
- 1.02 It is recognized that the nurses wish to work together with the Employer to secure the best possible nursing care and health protection for residents.

ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE AND RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Ontario Nurses' Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Registered and Graduate Nurses employed in a nursing capacity at Mon Sheong Home for the Aged in the Municipality of Metro Toronto, save and except the Assistant Director of Resident Care and persons above the rank of Assistant Director of Resident Care.
- A nurse who holds a Temporary Class Certificate of Registration must obtain her or his General Class Certificate of Registration prior to the expiry of her or his Temporary Class Certificate of Registration. If the nurse fails to obtain her or his General Class Certificate of Registration prior to the expiry of her or his Temporary Class Certificate of Registration she or he will be deemed to be not qualified for the position of registered nurse and she or he will be terminated from the employ of the Home. Such termination shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration.
- 2.03 The word "Nurse(s)" when used throughout this agreement shall mean persons included in the above described bargaining unit. The term "employee(s)" when used throughout this agreement shall mean persons included in the above-described bargaining unit.
- All references to nurses in this agreement include both male and female and whenever the male and female gender is used, it shall be construed to include both male and female nurses. Whenever the feminine pronoun is used in this Agreement, it includes the masculine and non-binary pronoun and vice-versa where the context so requires. Where the singular is used, it may also be deemed to mean the plural.
- 2.05 Persons whose jobs are not in the bargaining unit shall not perform work normally performed by employees in the bargaining unit except:
 - (a) In case of emergency;
 - (b) When instructing other employees;

- (c) When performing development or experimental work;
- (d) When regular employees are not available.
- 2.06 (a) A full-time nurse is a nurse who is regularly scheduled to work the normal full-time hours referred to in Article 15.
 - (b) A regular part-time nurse is a nurse who regularly works less than the full-time hours referred to in Article 15 and who offers to make a commitment to be available for work on a regular predetermined basis but for no less than two tours per week. All other part-time nurses shall be considered casual part-time nurses.
- 2.07 The Employer agrees to employ sufficient registered staff to meet the staffing needs that may be set from time to time by statue and/or regulation.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

3.01 The Employer retains all the rights it had prior to certification save where abridged by this Agreement.

The Association recognizes that the management of its operation and the direction of the working forces are fixed exclusively in the Employer and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Association acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Employer to:

- (a) Determine and establish standards and procedures for the care, welfare, safety and comfort of its Residents, and assure the effectiveness of such standards and procedures;
- (b) Maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
- (c) Hire, promote, demote, direct, classify, transfer, layoff, recall, discharge, suspend or otherwise discipline nurses subject to the right of an employee to grieve the discharge, discipline or suspension.
- (d) Establish, enforce and alter from time to time rules and regulations to be observed by the nurses which are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement;
- (e) Determine the shift schedule, the number of shifts, the methods, procedures, equipment and machinery to be used, the number of nurses needed by the Employer at any time, the number of hours to be worked and the number of days off, and the starting and quitting times.

- (f) Have the sole and exclusive jurisdiction over all operations, buildings, machinery, equipment and employees and to require medical examinations annually or more often if reasonably necessary.
- 3.02 The Employer shall exercise its rights in a reasonable manner. The Employer agrees that it will not exercise its functions in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION

- 4.01 The Employer and the Association agree that there will be no discrimination, interference, intimidation, restriction or coercion exercised or practised by any of their representatives with respect to any nurse because of her membership or non-membership in the Association or activity or lack of activity on behalf of the Association or by reason of exercising her rights under the Collective Agreement, or any applicable legislation.
- 4.02 It is agreed that there will be no discrimination on the basis race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, record of offences, marital status, family status or disability as defined under the Ontario Human Rights Code.
- 4.03 (a) For the purpose of this Collective Agreement, "sexual harassment" means:
 - i) An unsolicited sexual advance or solicitation if (a) submission is, expressly or by implication, made a term or condition of a person's right to or continuation or advancement of employment, or (b) submission or rejection is used as a basis for employment decisions affecting the person.
 - ii) Unwelcome verbal or physical conduct, occurring during the employment relationship, that emphasizes another person's sex or sexual orientation that creates for the employee an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.
 - (b) A nurse may initiate a grievance under this clause at any step of the grievance procedure and such grievance shall be processed through the grievance procedure in the Collective Agreement. Grievances under this clause will be handled with all possible confidentiality and dispatch.

ARTICLE 5 - NO STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

The Association agrees that there will be no strikes, and the Employer agrees that there will be no lockouts in the term of this agreement. The term "strike" and "lockout" shall bear the meaning given them in the Ontario Labour Relations Act. R.S.O. 1990, as amended.

ARTICLE 6 - ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION

- 6.01 The Employer will recognize the following:
 - (a) Three (3) Nurse Representatives, one from each site and the Bargaining Unit President.
 - (b) The Employer will recognize a Grievance Committee consisting of two (2) representatives from the bargaining unit. A committee member may investigate and process grievances in accordance with the grievance procedure set out in this Agreement.
 - (c) A Negotiating Committee of three (3) representatives (one from each site and the Bargaining Unit President) and a Labour Relations Officer of the Ontario Nurses' Association.
 - (d) The Employer agrees that there shall be a Management-Association Committee composed of an equal number of representatives of the Employer and Association. It is understood and agreed that neither party shall have more than two (2) representatives on this committee. Meetings of this committee shall be held at times mutually agreed to by the parties and at least once every three (3) months. It is understood that failure to meet more than once every three (3) months will not be the subject of a grievance unless it's an emergency meeting requested pursuant to Article 20. The purpose of this committee shall be to discuss matters relating to work load, scheduling matters, job content or other matters of mutual concern. Minutes of these meetings shall be maintained and signed by both parties. The role of chairperson shall rotate between the parties.
- The Association will supply the Employer with the names of its representatives and committee members and changes thereto, in writing.
- (a) If a Representative or committee member(s) must leave her regular duties for a period of time in order to attend to Association business on the premises, she will first obtain the permission of her Supervisor. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. Upon completion of her business, the Representative will report to her Supervisor and then return to her regular duties.

- (b) Whenever possible Association business shall be performed outside regular working hours. It is understood that the time spent by a nurse outside regular working hours for Association business shall not be compensated.
- (c) The Home agrees to pay members of the Negotiating Committee for time spent during working hours in negotiations with the Home for a renewal agreement up to, but not including, conciliation provided that the nurse was scheduled to work.
- 6.04 The Association Committees shall have the right to have the assistance of representatives or consultants from or acting on behalf of the Ontario Nurses' Association.

The representative of the Ontario Nurses' Association will obtain prior consent of the Administrator before entering the Home. Such consent shall not be arbitrarily withheld.

6.05 During the orientation period, the Employer agrees to provide a nurse representative from the bargaining unit with a reasonable period of time within regular working hours to meet with newly hired nurses.

6.06 Occupational Health & Safety Committee

- (a) The Employer and the Association agree that they mutually desire to maintain standards of health and safety in the Home, in order to prevent accidents, injury and illness.
- (b) Recognizing its responsibilities under the applicable legislation, the Employer agrees to accept as a member of its Occupational Health and Safety Committee, one representative selected or appointed by the Association from among bargaining unit employees.
- (c) This Committee shall identify potential dangers and hazards, recommend means of improving Health and Safety programmes, and recommend actions to be taken to improve conditions relating to Occupational Health and Safety.
- (d) The Employer agrees to provide necessary information to enable the committee members to fulfil their function.
- (e) Meetings shall be held at minimum every three (3) months. The committee shall maintain minutes of all meetings and make the same available for review.
- (f) The Association agrees to co-operate to the fullest extent possible with the Employer in Health and Safety matters and agrees to promote and encourage compliance by all employees with the Employer's Health and Safety policies and procedures.

6.07 Pay for Attending Meetings

The Employer shall endeavour to schedule all meetings between the Employer and the Grievance Committee in accordance with Article 8 and all Management-Association Committee and Occupational Health and Safety Committee meetings during the scheduled working hours of the Committee members. When an employee Committee member attends such meetings, such employee will be compensated for the time so taken during regular working hours at her regular rate of pay. All time spent by an employee Committee member outside regular working hours in such meetings will be compensated at the employee's regular rate.

ARTICLE 7 - ASSOCIATION SECURITY

- 7.01 The Employer shall deduct from the pay due to each nurse who is covered by this agreement a sum equal to the monthly Association dues of each nurse. The Association shall notify the Employer, in writing, of the amount of such dues from time to time. The Employer will send to the Ontario Nurses' Association monthly, its cheque for the dues so deducted, along with a list of the names and the amount of such deduction for each nurse. The list shall show the social insurance number of each nurse, terminations, new hires, leaves of absences and the initial list shall contain, as well, the addresses of each nurse. A copy of this list will be sent to the local association.
- 7.02 The Employer shall provide each nurse with a T4 slip, showing the dues deducted in the previous year for income tax purposes.
- 7.03 In consideration for the Employer deducting and forwarding dues to the Association, the Association agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless with respect to any claims arising from, or liability which the Home might incur as a result of the operation of this Article.

ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

- 8.01 The purpose of this article is to establish a procedure for the prompt handling of grievances. A nurse representative may assist the grievor at any stage of the grievance procedure if so requested. Prior to formal discipline or discharge, the Employer shall notify the nurse, in advance, of her entitlement to union representation.
- 8.02 (a) For the purpose of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as a difference arising between the parties relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.

(b) It is the mutual desire of the parties hereto that complaints of nurses shall be adjusted as quickly as possible, and it is understood that a nurse has no grievance until she has first given her immediate supervisor the opportunity of adjusting her complaint. Such complaint shall be discussed with her immediate supervisor within nine (9) calendar days after the circumstances giving rise to it have occurred or ought reasonably to have come to the attention of the nurse and failing settlement within nine (9) calendar days, it shall then be taken up as a grievance within nine (9) calendar days following advice of her immediate supervisor's decision in the following manner and sequence:

Step #1

The nurse may submit a written grievance, signed by the nurse to her immediate supervisor. The grievance shall identify the nature of the grievance and the remedy sought and should identify the provisions of the Agreement which are alleged to be violated. The immediate supervisor will deliver her decision in writing within nine (9) calendar days following the day on which the grievance was presented to her. Failing settlement, then:

Step #2

Within nine (9) days following the decision in Step No. 1, the grievance may be submitted in writing to the Administrator or designate. A meeting will then be held between the Administrator or designate and the Grievance Committee within nine (9) calendar days of the submission of the grievance at Step No. 2, unless extended by agreement of the parties. It is understood and agreed that a representative of the Ontario Nurses' Association and the grievor may be present at the meeting. It is further understood that the Administrator or designate may have such counsel and assistance as he may desire at such meeting. The decision of the Employer shall be delivered in writing within nine (9) calendar days following the date of such meeting. A copy of the second step grievance reply will be provided to the Labour Relations Officer. If the grievance is not settled, it may be referred to arbitration as hereinafter provided.

8.03 Should the Employer discharge or suspend any nurse(s), without just cause, notification by the Employer to such nurse(s) shall be made in the presence of a Nurse Representative. The nurse(s) and the Association shall be provided with written reasons for a discharge or suspension. Should the nurse(s) or the Association wish to file a grievance, in accordance with this agreement, against this action, it shall be in writing and filed under Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

8.04 Group Grievance

In the event of a grievance common to a group of two or more nurses, the Association may file a group grievance on behalf of such a group. The Association shall initiate the grievance at Step #1 of the Grievance Procedure.

8.05 Policy Grievance

The Association or the Employer may present a grievance in writing in the form of a policy grievance beginning at Step #2 of the Grievance procedure. Such grievance shall be filed within fourteen (14) calendar days of the incident giving rise to the grievance. Any such grievance may be referred to arbitration by either the Association, in the case of an Association grievance, or the Employer, in the case of an Employer grievance.

8.06 Arbitration

Where a difference arises between the parties relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, or where an allegation is made that this Agreement has been violated, either party may, after exhausting any grievance procedure established by this Agreement, notify the other in writing of its desire to submit the difference or allegation to arbitration. The notice shall contain the name of the party's appointee to an Arbitration Board and shall be delivered to the other party within thirty-six (36) calendar days of the reply under Step #2 of the Grievance Procedure. The recipient party shall, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receiving the notice, advise the other of the name of its appointee to the Arbitration Board.

- 8.07 The appointees so selected shall, within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the appointment of the second of them, or at a time mutually agreed upon, appoint a third person who shall be the chairman. If the recipient party fails to appoint an arbitrator or if the two appointees fail to agree upon a chairman, within the time limits, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon the request of either party.
- 8.08 The Arbitration Board shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision and the decision shall be final and binding upon the parties and upon any nurse affected by it. A decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority, the decision of the chairman shall govern.
- 8.09 Each party shall pay its own expenses including expenses for appointees and witnesses and the expenses of the chairman of the Arbitration Board shall be borne equally by the parties.

- 8.10 The Board of Arbitration shall not be authorized to make any decision inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, nor to alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement.
- 8.11 No person may be appointed as an Arbitrator who has been involved in an attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance.
- Any grievance which is not commenced or processed through the next stage of the grievance or arbitration procedures within the time specified in this Article shall be deemed to have been abandoned. However, time limits as set out in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement in writing between the Employer and the Association.
- 8.13 The Employer and the Association may, by written agreement, substitute for a specific grievance or grievances a single arbitrator for the Board of Arbitration provided for herein (whether or not that Board has been constituted) and the single arbitrator shall possess the same powers and be subjected to the same limitations as the Board of Arbitration hereunder. Failing agreement on who the single Arbitrator will be the normal arbitration provisions of Article 8.06 and 8.07 shall apply.
- 8.14 All agreements between the representatives of the Employer and the representatives of the Association will be final and binding upon the Employer and the Association and the nurse(s).
- 8.15 Any time limit referred to in the grievance or arbitration procedure shall be exclusive of holidays observed by the Employer.
- 8.16 A lesser standard of just cause shall apply to probationary employees than to employees who have completed their probationary period.
- 8.17 Section 48 (16) of the *Labour Relations Act* applies to all time limits in the grievance procedures.

ARTICLE 9 - JOB SECURITY

9.01 Seniority for full-time nurses shall be defined as length of service in the bargaining unit with the Employer since date of last hire. Seniority for full-time nurses will be expressed on the full-time seniority list in terms of a date (Seniority Date).

Seniority for part-time nurses shall be based on paid hours accumulated in the bargaining unit since date of last hire. It is recognized that 1500 paid hours equals one (1) year of full-time service. Seniority for part-time nurses will be expressed on the part-time seniority list in terms of total hours worked.

If a part-time nurse becomes a full-time nurse her Seniority Date shall be adjusted in accordance with Article 9.12

- 9.02 The probationary period for nurses shall be 450 hours worked.
- 9.03 The Employer will keep up to date seniority lists, one list for the full-time nurses, and one list for the part-time nurses of the bargaining unit. Each list will indicate the nurses dedicated site. Each list will be posted in a conspicuous place at both sites. The Employer will supply copies of the current lists to the Association twice a year, in the months of January and July, and prior to any layoff.
- 9.04 Seniority shall be retained and accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following conditions:
 - (a) When on leave of absence with pay;
 - (b) When on an approved leave of absence without pay, not exceeding thirty (30) continuous calendar days;
 - (c) When in receipt of sick leave;
 - (d) When on pregnancy or parental leave;
 - (e) When in receipt of worker's compensation up to twelve (12) months.
- 9.05 (a) Seniority shall be retained but not accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following circumstances:
 - i) when on an approved leave of absence without pay, for a period which exceeds thirty (30) continuous calendar days;
 - ii) when absent on account of illness or accident and not in receipt of sick leave to a maximum of one (1) year;
 - iii) when absent due to layoff for up to twenty-four (24) months;
 - (b) Seniority once established for a nurse shall be forfeited and the nurse shall be deemed to be terminated under the following conditions:
 - i) resignation;
 - ii) if discharged and not reinstated through the grievance or arbitration procedures;
 - iii) retirement:

- iv) is laid off for more than twenty-four (24) calendar months;
- v) If the nurse is absent from work for more than three (3) scheduled working days without notifying the Employer and without providing a satisfactory reason to the Employer.
- vi) When recalling a nurse after layoff, she shall be notified by registered mail and allowed two weeks to report for work, and in the meantime, if a nurse is recalled but not immediately available for work, other nurses in seniority standing shall be recalled, but shall be temporarily employed until the senior nurse reports within the two week period. A nurse to whom a registered letter is sent, must contact the Employer within 72 hours of the notice of return to work if she wishes the Employer to hold the job open for her for the full two week period. It shall be the nurse's responsibility to keep the Employer notified of her up to date address and telephone number.
- (vii) Obtains a leave of absence but uses it to work for another Employer.
- 9.06 (a) In the case of all vacancies, the Employer will post notice of such vacancies simultaneously at each site, for seven (7) consecutive calendar days, prior to filling the position. Nurses at the site where the vacancy occurs will be given first consideration for filling the posting. Consideration will then be given to nurses at the other site. Should there be no internal applicants from either site or no qualified internal applicants, the Employer may hire a new nurse from outside the bargaining unit. The name of the successful applicant shall be posted by the Employer.
 - (b) No full-time nurse will be transferred to another permanent shift without the consent of the nurse.
 - (c) A nurse will not be transferred to the other site without her /his consent.
- 9.07 Part-time nurses shall be given the first opportunity to fill temporary full-time vacancies caused by illness, accident, or leaves of absence including pregnancy and parental leave. Part time nurses at the site where the vacancy occurs will be given first consideration for filling the vacancy. The Employer will outline the conditions and duration of such vacancy where possible. Such temporary vacancy shall not exceed the duration of the leave required by the incumbent.
- 9.08 In all cases of transfer or promotion the following factors shall be considered:

- (a) skill, ability and experience and qualifications;
- (b) seniority.

Where the factors in (a) are relatively equal, (b) shall govern.

Where the applicant has been selected in accordance with this Article and it is subsequently determined by the Employer that she cannot satisfactorily perform the job to which she was promoted or transferred, the Employer will attempt, during the first sixty (60) tours (or 450 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) worked from the date on which the nurse was first assigned to the vacancy, to return the nurse to her former job, and the filling of the subsequent vacancies will likewise be reversed. If the nurse requests to return to her former position within the first sixty (60) tours (or 450 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) the Employer will give due consideration to same, provided that the former position has not been filled or eliminated. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied.

- 9.09 (a) In the event of a proposed layoff of a permanent or long term nature, the Employer will:
 - i) provide the Association with seventy-five (75) days' notice; and
 - ii) meet with the Association to review the reasons causing the layoff.
 - (b) A layoff of nurses shall be made on the basis of seniority, according to status (Full-time status and/or Part-time status) provided that the nurses who are entitled to remain on the basis of seniority and status are qualified to perform the available work. Subject to the foregoing, probationary nurses shall be the first laid off.
 - (c) No new nurse shall be hired until all those laid off have been given an opportunity to be recalled to perform the work available.

Applies to Full-time Nurses only:

(d) Where the full time complement is to be reduced, a displaced full time nurse may utilize his/her seniority to displace a more junior full time nurse at the other site. If there is no junior full time nurse at the other site for her to displace then she may displace a more junior part time nurse at the original site. If there is no junior part time nurse at the original site she may displace a more junior part time nurse at the other site.

Applies to Part-time Nurses only:

- (e) Where the part-time complement is to be reduced, a displaced part-time nurse may utilize his/her seniority to displace a more junior part-time nurse at the other site.
- (f) Nurses shall be recalled in order of seniority and according to status (i.e. full-time nurses to be recalled for full-time positions, part-time nurses to be recalled for part-time positions), regardless of site, unless otherwise agreed between the Employer and the local Association, provided that the nurse is qualified to perform the available work. If a nurse is recalled to the other site he/she will not maintain recall rights at his/her original site.
- (g) Where a vacancy occurs in a position formerly held by a laid off nurse within six (6) months of the date of layoff, he/she will be offered the opportunity to return to his or her former position. Where the nurse returns to her or his former position, there shall be no requirement to post the vacancy in accordance with Article 9.06. Where the nurse refuses the opportunity to return to her or his former position, the nurse shall advise the applicable Administrator in writing, within five (5) calendar days. The vacancy will then be posted.
- (h) Notwithstanding the above, a nurse who has been notified of layoff may accept the layoff.
- (i) Once nurses of the same status (full-time nurses to full-time positions and part-time nurses to part-time positions) who wish have all been recalled under clause (f) then nurses of the other status may be recalled to the remaining vacancies in the other classification (full-time status to a part-time position and part-time status to a full-time position). This cross classification recall will not eliminate the nurse's original recall rights to his/her pre-layoff status.
- 9.10 The Employer will not establish qualifications, or identify them in job postings, in an arbitrary or unreasonable manner.
- 9.11 Employees promoted to Supervisory positions not covered by this Collective Agreement will retain their seniority after promotion and if transferred back into the bargaining unit within six (6) months. The time served in such position shall be included in their service standing.
- 9.12 A nurse's full seniority and service shall be retained by the nurse in the event that she is transferred from full-time to part-time or in the event she is transferred from casual to regular part-time or vice versa. A nurse whose status is changed from full-time to part-time shall receive credit for her full seniority and service on the basis of 1500 hours worked for each

year of full-time seniority or service. A nurse whose status is changed from part-time to full-time shall receive credit for her full seniority and service on the basis of one (1) year of seniority for each 1500 hours worked. Any time worked in excess of an equivalent shall be pro-rated at the time of transfer.

ARTICLE 10 - EMPLOYEE FILES

- 10.01 (a) In the event that it is deemed necessary by the Employer to file a report of censure, the Employer shall, within five (5) days thereafter, give a copy of such censure to the nurse involved with a copy to the Association.
 - (b) Any letter of reprimand, suspension or other sanction will be removed from the record of a nurse eighteen (18) months following the receipt of such letter, suspension or other sanction provided that the nurse's record has been discipline free for one year. Leaves of absence in excess of sixty (60) calendar days will not be counted towards either period referenced above.
- The Employer agrees that all censures issued prior to the effective date of the Collective Agreement shall not be part of the nurse's record.
- 10.03 When any type of evaluation, performance appraisal, progress report or assessment related to job performance, nursing practice, or other employment related matters is completed with respect to any nurse it shall be shown to the nurse in a timely manner.
- 10.04 Upon request, a nurse may review her file and receive a copy of anything in her file at a time agreeable to the Employer in the presence of her Supervisor. The nurse may be accompanied by a Nurse Representative if she so wishes.

ARTICLE 11 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

11.01 Written requests for leave of absence will be considered on an individual basis by the Employer. Such requests are to be made in writing four (4) weeks in advance except in case of emergency and a written reply will be given within seven (7) days of the date of such request, except in cases of emergency. If the leave of absence is denied, such written reply shall contain the reasons for the denial. Requests for leave of absence shall not be arbitrarily withheld. Such leaves are subject always to scheduling requirements.

11.02 (a) Association Leave

Leave of absence for Association business including conferences and conventions shall be given to nurses provided that the Association give the Employer at least two (2) weeks' advance notice of such leave. During such leave of absence the nurse's salary and applicable benefits shall be maintained by the Employer and the local Association agrees to reimburse the Employer in the amount of the full cost of such salary and applicable benefits. Requests for leave of absence shall not be arbitrarily withheld.

(b) Board of Directors

A nurse who is elected to the Board of Directors of the Ontario Nurses' Association, other than to the office of President, shall be granted leave of absence without pay. There shall be no loss of seniority or credits for the purpose of salary advancement and vacation entitlement or other purposes during such leave. During such leave of absence, the nurse's salary and applicable benefits shall be maintained by the Employer, and the Association agrees to reimburse the Employer in the amount of the full cost of such salary and applicable benefits.

(c) President, ONA

Upon application, in writing, by the Association on behalf of the nurse to the Employer, a leave of absence shall be granted to such nurse elected to the office of President of the Ontario Nurses' Association for a period of up to two (2) years. There shall be no loss of seniority and service during her absence. During such leave of absence, the nurse's salary and applicable benefits shall be maintained by the Employer, and the Association agrees to reimburse the Employer the amount of the full cost of such salary and applicable benefits. The nurse agrees to notify the Employer of her intention to return to work at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of return.

Notwithstanding the above, the Employer and the Union may make alternate arrangements with respect to salary and benefit continuation.

11.03 (a) Leave of absence with or without pay, at the discretion of the Employer, may be granted to a nurse who wishes to enrol in a post-graduate course, certificate or degree course from a University or community college or other institution offering employment related courses. Leaves of absence shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(b) Education Leave

Leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority may be granted to allow employees time to take examinations for courses previously approved by the Home.

11.04 Bereavement Leave

A nurse who notifies the Home as soon as possible following a bereavement shall be granted four (4) consecutive working days off, without loss of her regular pay for her scheduled hours, if any, during such four (4) days, in conjunction with the day of the funeral of her spouse, child, or parent and three (3) consecutive working days off, without loss of her regular pay for her scheduled hours, if any, during such three (3) days, in conjunction with the day of the funeral of a member of her immediate family. "Immediate family" means brother, sister, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent or grandchild. "Spouse" for the purposes of bereavement leave will include a partner of the same sex. One (1) day of bereavement leave without pay will be granted to attend the funeral of an aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew. The employer, in its discretion, may extend such leave with or without pay.

Notwithstanding the above, individuals will be granted flexibility to distribute their bereavement leave entitlement over two (2) occasions, not exceeding four (4) or three (3) days, as applicable, in total, in order to accommodate religious and cultural diversity.

Where the burial occurs outside the province, such leave may be increased by additional unpaid days to permit reasonable traveling time.

Part-time nurses will be credited with seniority and service for all such leave.

11.05 (a) Pregnancy Leave

- i) Pregnancy leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act*, except where amended in this provision, which may be up to seventeen (17) weeks.
- ii) The nurse shall give written notification at least one (1) month in advance of the date of commencement of such leave and the expected date of return.
- iii) The nurse shall reconfirm her intention to return to work on the date originally approved in subsection (ii) above by written notification received by the Home at least four (4) weeks in advance thereof. The nurse shall be reinstated to

her former position unless the position has been discontinued in which case she shall be given a comparable job.

iv) Nurses newly hired to replace nurses who are on approved pregnancy leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration. If retained by the Home, in a permanent position, the nurse shall be credited with seniority from date of hire subject to successfully completing her probationary period. The nurse shall be credited with tours worked (hours worked for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) towards the probationary period provided in Article 9.02 to a maximum of 30 tours (225 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day).

The Home will outline to nurses hired to fill such temporary vacancies the circumstances giving rise to the vacancy and the special conditions relating to such employment.

- v) The Home may request a nurse to commence pregnancy leave at such time as the duties of her position cannot reasonably be performed by a pregnant woman or the performance or non-performance of her work is materially affected by the pregnancy.
- vi) On confirmation by the Employment Insurance Commission of the appropriateness of the Home's Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan, a nurse who is on pregnancy leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a supplemental employment benefit. Effective February 28, 2011 that benefit will be equivalent to the difference between eighty percent (80%) of her regular weekly earnings and the sum of her weekly Employment Insurance benefits and any other earnings. payment shall commence following completion of the one (1) week Employment Insurance waiting period, and receipt by the Employer of the nurse's Employment Insurance cheque stub as proof that she is in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits, and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits for a maximum period of fifteen (15) The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying her regular hourly rate on her last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times her normal weekly hours. The normal weekly hours for a part-time employee shall be calculated by using the same

time period used for calculation of the Employment Insurance benefit.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

11.05 (b) Parental Leave

- i) A nurse who becomes a parent of a child is eligible to take a parental leave in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act, except where amended in this provision.
- A nurse who has taken a pregnancy leave under Article ii) 11.05 is eligible to be granted a parental leave of up to sixtyone (61) weeks duration, in accordance with the Employment Standards Act. A nurse who is eligible for a parental leave who is the natural father or is an adoptive parent may extend the parental leave for a period of up to sixty-three (63) weeks' duration, consideration being given to any requirements of adoption authorities. In cases of adoption, the nurse shall advise the Home as far in advance as possible with respect to a prospective adoption and shall request the leave of absence, in writing, upon receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption. If, because of late receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption, the nurse finds it impossible to request the leave of absence in writing, the request may be made verbally and subsequently verified in writing.
- iii) The nurse shall be reinstated to her former position, unless her former position has been discontinued, in which case she shall be given a comparable job.
- iv) Nurses newly hired to replace nurses who are on approved parental leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration. If retained by the Home, in a permanent position, the nurse shall be credited with seniority from date of hire subject to successfully completing her probationary period. The nurse shall be credited with tours worked (hours worked for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) towards the probationary period provided in Article 9.02 to a maximum of 30 tours (225 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day).

The Home will outline to nurses hired to fill such temporary vacancies, the circumstances giving rise to the vacancy and the special conditions relating to such employment.

On confirmation by the Employment Insurance Commission v) of the appropriateness of the Home's Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan, a nurse who is on parental leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance parental benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a supplemental employment benefit. Effective February 28, 2011, that benefit will be equivalent to the difference between eighty percent (80%) of her or his regular weekly earnings and the sum of her or his weekly Employment Insurance benefits and any other earnings. Biweekly payment shall commence following completion of the one (1) week Employment Insurance waiting period, and receipt by the Employer of the nurse's Employment Insurance cheque stub as proof that the nurse is in receipt of Employment Insurance parental benefits, and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits for a maximum period of twelve (12) weeks. The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying her or his regular hourly rate on her or his last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times her or his normal weekly hours. The normal weekly hours for a part-time employee shall be calculated by using the same time period used for calculation of the Employment Insurance benefit.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

(c) A nurse who is on approved pregnancy and/or parental leave in accordance with Article 11.05 (a) or (b) is entitled to extend such leave to a maximum of eighteen (18) months in total.

11.06 <u>Jury and Witness Duty</u>

If a nurse is required to serve as a juror in any court of law or is required to serve as a witness in a court proceeding in which the crown is a party, or is required by subpoena to attend a Court of Law, other than proceedings before the Ontario Labour Relations Board or Arbitration appearances on behalf of the Ontario Nurses' Association, or coroner's inquest, or is subpoenaed to appear at the College of Nurses, the nurse will receive pay for those days of her regular schedule during which she is required to be

absent, provided that such nurse promptly repays the amount (other than expenses) paid to her for such service or attendance to the Employer, and presents proof of service requiring her attendance.

A nurse shall not be required to attend work on those days, or the preceding night shift, on which she is fulfilling the above commitment.

11.07 <u>Professional Leave</u>

Professional leave with pay will be granted to full-time nurses who are elected to the College of Nurses to attend the regularly scheduled meetings.

11.08 Family Sick Leave

Regular full-time employees who have completed their probation will be permitted to take up to a total of five (5) days family leave per calendar year in the following circumstances, provided that the employees have accumulated such days in their sick leave banks:

- a) unpredictable family health emergencies where alternative arrangements cannot reasonably be made; and
- b) unpredictable "family care arrangement" emergencies where alternative arrangements cannot reasonably be made.

For purposes of this Article, "family member" for which such leave may be taken includes the child, parent, spouse, common-law partner or same sex partner of the employee.

Employees who have accumulated sick leave days and, therefore, who are eligible to take family leave in these circumstances, shall be paid for these days and shall have these days deducted from their sick leave banks.

These family leave days are inclusive of, and not in addition to, any emergency leave days that may be available under applicable statutes.

11.09 a) Family Medical Leave will be granted in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.

ARTICLE 12 - PAID HOLIDAYS

12.01 The Employer agrees to recognize the following paid holidays for full-time nurses:

New Year's Day

Family Day

Good Friday

Civic Holiday

Labour Day

Thanksgiving Day

Victoria Day
Canada Day
Float Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day
Remembrance Day

or days celebrated in lieu thereof, regardless of the day on which it falls.

- Holiday pay will be computed on the basis of the nurse's regular straight time hourly rate of pay times the number of hours for a normal daily tour as set out in Article 15.01.
- 12.03 (a) If a full-time nurse works on a paid holiday, she shall be paid for all hours worked on the holiday at one and one-half (1½) times her regular straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours worked on such holiday subject to Article 16.03. In addition, she will receive another day off with pay at her straight time hourly rate times the number of hours in a normal daily tour as set out in Article 15.01 at a mutually agreeable time.
 - (b) If a part-time nurse works on any of the holidays listed in Article 12.01, she shall be paid at the rate of time and one half (1½) her regular straight time hourly rate for all hours worked on such holiday subject to Article 16.03.
- 12.04 When a nurse is scheduled off on a paid holiday, she shall be entitled to holiday pay for the paid holidays as outlined in 12.02, subject to the following:

In order to qualify for pay for a holiday, a nurse shall complete her full scheduled shift on each of the working days immediately preceding and following the holiday concerned unless excused by the Employer or the nurse was absent due to:

- (a) legitimate illness or accident which commenced within a month of the date of the holiday;
- (b) vacation granted by the Employer;
- (c) the nurse's regular scheduled day off;
- (d) a paid leave of absence provided the nurse is not otherwise compensated for the holiday.
- 12.05 The holiday shall begin at 00:01 and end at 24:00 on the date of the holiday. Any hours worked by a nurse during the holiday shall be paid in accordance with Article 12.02.
- 12.06 When a holiday falls during a nurse's scheduled vacation period, her vacation shall be extended by one (1) day unless the nurse and the Employer agree to schedule a different day off with pay.

ARTICLE 13 – VACATIONS

- 13.01 All full-time nurses shall receive vacations with pay based on length of full-time continuous service as follows:
 - (a) Nurses who have completed less than one (1) year of full-time continuous service (as of the date for determining vacation entitlement) shall be entitled to a vacation on the basis of 1.25 days (9.375 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour) for each completed month of service with pay in the amount of 6% of gross earnings.
 - (b) Nurses who have completed one (1) or more years of full-time continuous service (as of the date for determining vacation entitlement) shall be entitled to an annual vacation of three (3) weeks with three (3) week's pay (112.5 hours pay for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour), provided the nurse works or receives paid leave for a total of at least 1525 hours in the vacation year.
 - (c) Nurses who have completed three (3) or more years of full-time continuous service (as of the date for determining vacation entitlement) shall be entitled to an annual vacation of four (4) weeks with four (4) weeks' pay, (150 hours pay for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour), provided the nurse works or receives paid leave for a total of at least 1525 hours in the vacation year.
 - (d) Nurses who have completed eleven (11) or more years of full-time continuous service (as of the date for determining vacation entitlement in the individual Employer) shall be entitled to an annual vacation of five (5) weeks with five (5) weeks' pay, (187.5 hours pay for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour), provided the nurse works or receives paid leave for a total of at least 1525 hours in the vacation year.
 - (e) Nurses who have completed twenty (20) or more years of full-time continuous service (effective in the 2018 vacation year) shall be entitled to an annual vacation of six (6) weeks with six (6) weeks' pay, (225 hours pay for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour), provided the nurse works or receives paid leave for a total of at least 1525 hours in the vacation year.
 - (f) Nurses who have completed twenty-five (25) or more years of full-time continuous service (effective in the 2019 vacation year) shall be entitled to an annual vacation of seven (7) weeks with seven (7) weeks' pay, (262.5 hours pay for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the normal daily tour), provided the nurse

works or receives paid leave for a total of at least 1525 hours in the vacation year.

(g) If a nurse works or receives paid leave for less than 1525 hours in the vacation year, she will receive vacation pay based on a percentage of her gross salary for work performed on the following basis:

3 week entitlement - 6%

4 week entitlement - 8%

5 week entitlement - 10%

6 week entitlement - 12%

7 week entitlement - 14%

13.02 (a) All regular part-time nurses shall be entitled to vacation pay based upon the applicable percentage provided in accordance with the vacation entitlement of full-time nurses, of their gross earnings in the preceding year. If a nurse works or receives paid leave for less than 1100 hours in the vacation year she will receive vacation pay based on a percentage of her gross salary for work performed on the following basis:

3 week entitlement - 6%

4 week entitlement - 8%

5 week entitlement - 10%

6 week entitlement - 12%

7 week entitlement - 14%

Equivalent years of service, calculated pursuant to the formula set out in Article 13.02 (b), shall be used to determine vacation entitlement.

Casual part-time nurses will be paid vacation pay in accordance with the above entitlement on gross earnings or on gross salary for work performed, as applicable. Equivalent years of service will be based on the casual part-time nurse's seniority established under Article 9.01 and will be calculated on the basis that 1500 hours of part-time service shall equal one (1) year of full-time service and vice-versa.

(b) For the purpose of vacation entitlement, service for those nurses whose status is changed from part-time to full-time or vice versa, shall mean the combined service as a part-time and full-time nurse employed by the home and accumulated on a continuous basis. For the purpose of this Article 1500 hours of part-time service shall equal one year of full-time service and vice versa.

13.03 A nurse who leaves the employ of the Employer for any reason shall be entitled to receive any unpaid vacation pay which has accrued to her to

the date of her separation, it being understood and agreed that the nurse will provide at least two (2) weeks' notice of termination.

13.04 <u>Scheduling</u>

- (a) Vacations may be taken at any time of the year provided adequate staffing of the Home can be maintained.
- (b) i) Vacation requests shall be submitted by May 1st. The approved vacation schedule shall be posted no later than June 1st.
 - ii) In cases of conflict, seniority shall be the governing factor with respect to the scheduling of vacations. Nurses who fail to submit vacation requests by May 1st shall lose the right to exercise seniority rights in this matter. The vacation schedule shall not be changed unless it is with the Employer's approval.
 - iii) One week of vacation shall be defined as seven (7) consecutive calendar days.
- (c) Prior to leaving on vacation, nurses shall be notified of the date and time on which to report for work following vacation.
- (d) Vacation may commence on any day of the week.
- 13.05 The vacation year shall commence with the anniversary date of the nurse. All of the employee's vacation entitlement must be used during the vacation year, subject to Article 13.06.
- 13.06 A nurse may ask to carry one week of vacation entitlement over to the following vacation year. Such a request shall not be unreasonably denied.

<u>ARTICLE 14 - SICK LEAVE AND LONG TERM DISABILITY</u>

Sick leave shall be granted to all full-time nurses on the basis of one and one-half (1½) days per month. Unused sick leave credits to a maximum of seventy-five (75) days shall accrue for future benefits. One day of sick leave is equivalent to a normal daily tour.

Full-time nurses working extended tours will receive sick pay at the rate of eleven and one quarter (11.25) hours per day and will accumulate sick time to a maximum of fifty (50) days at 11.25 hours.

14.02 A nurse who is absent from work as a result of an illness or injury sustained at work and who has been awaiting approval of a claim for Workers' Compensation for a period longer than one complete pay period

MONSH01.C22

may apply to the Home for sick leave credits in her bank equivalent to the benefit she would receive from Workers' Compensation if her claim was approved. On receipt of Workers' Compensation benefits the employee shall repay the Home that which she has received from the Home and her sick leave credits will be credited back to her.

- In the event that a nurse is prevented from performing her regular work with the Employer on account of an occupational accident associated with her employment with the Employer and this accident is recognized by the Workers' Compensation Act as compensable within the meaning of the Act, the Employer will, on request, supplement the award made by the Compensation Board for loss of wages to the nurses by such an amount that the award of the Compensation Board and the Employer supplementation will equal one hundred (100%) percent of the nurse's regular wages in effect at the time of illness or injury (exclusive of any overtime, etc.) and the nurse's sick leave credits will be reduced proportionately. When the application for compensation is made, the nurse shall advise whether or not she wishes to accept the Employer's supplementation. Any payments so made by the Employer will cease when the accumulated income protection has been claimed.
- 14.04 Employees are requested to notify the Home of their intention to return to work after illness at least twelve (12) hours prior to the start of the shift on which they plan to return.
- 14.05 Immediately after the close of each calendar year, the Employer shall review the sick leave records of each employee and verify that the accumulated sick leave is correct. Any employee is to be advised within fifteen (15) days of application of the amount of sick leave accrued to his credit.
- The Employer and nurses shall cost share the premiums for a Long Term Disability Plan. The Home agrees to contribute seventy-five (75%) percent of the billed premiums towards coverage and the nurse agrees to contribute twenty-five (25%) percent. The Long Term Disability Plan will provide sixty-six (66%) percent of the nurses' regular earnings after thirty (30) weeks of absence.

ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK

15.01 The following provision designating regular hours on a daily tour and regular daily tours over the nursing schedule determined by the Employer shall not be construed to be a guarantee of the hours of work to be performed on each tour or during each tour schedule.

Subject to Article 15.02 below:

- (a) The normal daily tour shall be seven and one half (7.5) consecutive hours in any twenty-four (24) hour period exclusive of an unpaid one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) hour meal period.
- (b) Nurses shall be entitled subject to the exigencies of patient care to two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid rest periods.
- (c) The normal hours of work for nurses working normal daily tours shall be 7.5 hours per day and 37.5 hours per week.

15.02 <u>Scheduling for Regular 7.5 hour tours</u>

Scheduling of Regular 7.5 hour tours shall be in accordance with the following:

- (a) no split shifts;
- (b) at least two (2) consecutive days off shall be scheduled in a two (2) week period;
- (c) if such nurse is required to work on a second (2nd) consecutive and subsequent weekend, she will be paid at one and one-half (1 ½) times her straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours worked on that weekend and subsequent weekends, until a weekend is scheduled off, save and except where:
 - (i) such weekend has been worked by the nurse to satisfy specific days off requested by such nurse; or
 - (ii) such nurse has requested weekend work; or
 - (iii) such weekend is worked as a result of an exchange with another nurse; or
 - (iv) such nurse was hired to do weekend work.
- (d) Prior to altering the starting or finishing time on a unit, or introducing different shifts, the Bargaining Unit President of the Local shall receive sixty (60) days' notice and the nurses on the unit consulted for input and comments.
 - At least forty-eight (48) consecutive hours off are to be scheduled following night shifts unless mutually agreed.
- (e) Schedules shall be posted at least two (2) weeks in advance;
- (f) Any request by a nurse for a change in posted time schedules must be submitted in writing and co-signed by the nurse willing to exchange days off or tours of duty.

- (g) There shall be a minimum of sixteen (16) hours off between scheduled tours unless otherwise mutually agreed.
- (h) Nurses shall be allowed to exchange tours of duty with the approval of the Director of Resident Care or designate. Such changes initiated by the nurse will not result in additional cost to the Employer.
- (i) Schedules shall not be changed unilaterally by the Employer once posted, unless expressly agreed by the nurse.
- (j) A weekend off is defined as being fifty-six (56) hours off during the period following the completion of the Friday evening shift until the commencement of the Monday day shift.

15.03 Extended Tour

Where nurses work a longer daily tour, the provisions set out in this Article governing the regular hours of work on a daily tour shall be adjusted accordingly.

- (a) The extended daily tour shall be 11.25 consecutive hours in any twenty-four (24) hour period exclusive of a total of forty-five (45) minutes of unpaid meal time.
- (b) Nurses shall be entitled, subject to the exigencies of patient care, to rest periods during the tour of a total of forty-five (45) minutes. The scheduling of meal and rest periods shall be determined by the Employer.
- (c) A nurse who is required to remain on standby during her unpaid meal break shall receive standby pay in accordance with Article 16.09 prorated for forty-five (45) minutes.
- (d) Where a nurse is or will be unable to take the normal meal break due to the requirement of providing patient care in accordance with the Home's policy, such nurse shall be paid time and one-half (1½) her regular straight time hourly rate for the time worked in excess of her normal daily hours.
- At the change of tour there will normally be additional time required for reporting which shall be considered to be part of the normal daily tour or extended tour for a period of up to fifteen (15) minutes and such time shall not be compensated.

15.05 <u>Scheduling</u>

Scheduling of extended tours shall be in accordance with the following:

- (a) No split shifts;
- (b) No more than four (4) consecutive extended tours shall be scheduled unless by mutual agreement;
- (c) At least two (2) consecutive days off shall be scheduled in a two (2) week period.
- (d) i) Full-time nurses and regular part-time nurses shall receive every second weekend off.
 - ii) If such nurse is required to work on a second (2nd) consecutive and subsequent weekend, she will be paid at one and one-half (1½) times her straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours worked on that weekend and subsequent weekends, until a weekend is scheduled off, save and except where:
 - (A) such weekend has been worked by the nurse to satisfy specific days off requested by such nurse; or
 - (B) such nurse has requested weekend work; or
 - (C) such weekend is worked as a result of an exchange with another nurse; or
 - (D) such nurse was hired to do weekend work.
- (e) At least forty-eight (48) consecutive hours off are to be scheduled following night shifts unless mutually agreed.
- (f) Schedules shall be posted at least two (2) weeks in advance;
- (g) Any request by a nurse for a change in posted time schedules must be submitted in writing and co-signed by the nurse willing to exchange days off or tours of duty.
- (h) There shall be a minimum of twelve (12) hours off between scheduled tours.
- (i) Where nurses are working extended tours, a weekend is defined as being sixty (60) hours off during the period following the completion of the Friday day shift until the commencement of the Monday day shift.
- (j) Nurses shall be allowed to exchange tours of duty with the approval of the Director of Resident Care, or designate. Such changes initiated by the nurse will not result in additional cost to the Employer.

(k) Schedules shall not be changed unilaterally by the Employer once posted, unless expressly agreed by the Nurse.

ARTICLE 16 - PREMIUM PAYMENT

- Nurses shall not be scheduled or required to work in excess of normally scheduled hours of work without consent except in cases of emergency. A nurse shall have the option of selecting compensating time off at one and one-half (1½) times the time actually worked in lieu of overtime or premium payment. Such payment shall not be counted towards any overtime entitlement for that pay period.
- Premium payment of one and one-half (1½) times her regular straight time hourly rate shall be paid to a nurse as follows:
 - (a) subject to Article 15.04, for all work performed in excess of the hours of work in Article 15.01(a) and 15.03(a), as the tour was designated in accordance with the schedule when posted or when subsequently offered.
 - (b) for all work performed on scheduled days off by a full-time nurse;
 - (c) for all work performed by a full-time or part-time nurse after working in excess of two hundred and twenty-five (225) hours in a six (6) week schedule.
- Where a nurse is required to work on a paid holiday or on an overtime tour or on a tour that is paid the rate of time and one-half (1½) her regular straight time hourly rate and she is required to work additional hours following her full tour on that day (but not including hours on a subsequent regularly scheduled tour for such nurse) she shall receive two (2) times her regular straight time hourly rate for such additional hours worked.
- If the Employer fails to schedule a period of twelve (12) consecutive hours between extended tours, the Employer will pay to the nurse time and one-half (1½) her appropriate hourly rate for the following tour of duty worked. This does not include circumstances where the nurse is called in to commence work prior to her tour or is required to stay past the completion of her tour due to circumstances beyond the Employer's control.
- 16.05 If the nurse is scheduled to work in excess of four (4) consecutive extended tours, she shall be paid time and one-half (1½) for all days scheduled in excess of four (4) until a day off is scheduled.
- 16.06 If a nurse's scheduled tour is changed with less than forty-eight (48) hours' personal notice from the starting time of the scheduled tour period, she will

receive a minimum four (4) hours' pay. This provision shall not apply in the case of a change pursuant to Article 15.05 (j).

- A nurse who is called in or reports for work as scheduled and is not required to work, shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours' pay.
- A nurse who is called into work outside her regularly scheduled working hours shall receive time and one-half (1½) her regular straight time rate for all hours worked with a minimum guarantee of four (4) hours' pay at time and one-half (1½) her appropriate rate. This does not apply to periods when a nurse is on standby during meal breaks.

16.09 <u>Standby Pay</u>

A nurse who is required to remain available on standby duty outside her regularly scheduled working hours shall receive standby pay in the amount of two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) per hour for the standby period scheduled by the Employer. Where such standby duty falls on a paid holiday, the nurse shall receive standby pay in the amount of three dollars (\$3.00) per hour. Standby pay shall, however, cease where the nurse is called in to work under Article 16.08 and works during the period of standby.

16.10 For the purposes of this Article, Regular Tours are defined as:

Days: 0700 - 1500 hours Evenings: 1500 - 2300 hours Nights: 2300 - 0700 hours

For the purposes of this Article, Extended Tours are defined as:

Days: 0700 - 1900 hours Nights: 1900 - 0700 hours

For clarity, a nurse working the extended tour which begins at 0700 and ends at 1900 is not entitled to shift premium for the hours from 1500 to 1900.

A nurse working the extended night tour which begins at 1900 and ends at 0700 is entitled to night shift premium for the hours from 1900 to 0700.

Effective and retroactive to April 1, 2020, shift premium shall be paid to nurses on the evening shift at the rate of two dollars and thirty eight cents (\$2.38) per hour for all hours worked from 1500 to 2300 hours. Shift premium shall be paid to nurses on the night shift at the rate of two dollars and seventy five cents (\$2.75) per hour for all hours worked from 2300 to 0700 hours.

- A nurse who works a second consecutive tour shall be entitled to the normal rest periods and one half (½) hour paid meal period and five dollars (\$5.00), if the Employer is unable to provide a hot meal.
- 16.12 Effective and retroactive to April 1, 2020, a nurse shall be paid a weekend premium of two dollars and eighty five cents (\$2.85) per hour for all hours worked between 2400 hours Friday and 0700 hours Monday.
- A full-time or regular part-time nurse who is called to come in to work less than two (2) hours prior to the commencement of a full tour shall have up to two hours following the call to arrive at work. If this two (2) hour period extends into the tour she shall be paid as though she had worked from the beginning of the tour provided that she arrives within the two (2) hour period following the call.
- 16.14 There shall be no pyramiding or duplicating of overtime or premium rates or any other benefit under this agreement unless otherwise specifically provided.

<u>ARTICLE 17 – MISCELLANEOUS</u>

- 17.01 The Association shall have the use of a bulletin board at each site in the Employer's premises for the purpose of posting notices relating to the Association's business. Such notices must be approved by the Employer prior to their being posted and such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 17.02 A photo copy of this agreement will be issued to each nurse now employed or who becomes employed. The cost of printing this agreement shall be equally shared between the Association and the Employer.
- 17.03 If facilities are available, the Ontario Nurses' Association may use such facilities with the permission of the Employer at times agreed upon by the Employer for the Association to hold meetings on the Employer's premises.
- 17.04 Pay cheques or pay statements are to be issued on a regular day of the week, with a clarified itemized statement of all deductions, premiums and changes of increment in an envelope. Nurses leaving the employ of the Employer shall be paid all outstanding monies as above, on the next regularly scheduled pay date.
- 17.05 Prior to affecting any changes in the Employer's policies or rules, which would affect nurses covered by this Agreement; the Employer shall first discuss such proposed changes with the Association.
- 17.06 Each nurse shall keep the Employer informed of changes to relevant employment information.

- 17.07 Where a medical examination is required to comply with the statute, a nurse may choose her personal physician, subject to any limitations imposed by legislation.
- 17.08 The Employer shall make available to each nurse and the Association a copy of the booklets for those benefit programs defined in the Collective Agreement and changes thereto. Upon request, the Association shall be provided with a current copy of the master policy.
- 17.09 Any dispute which may arise concerning a nurse's entitlement to benefits may be subject to grievance and arbitration under the provisions of this Agreement.
- 17.10 The Employer agrees to make available the following parking spaces for Nurses:

D'Arcy Street:

0700-1900 - 2 spaces

1500-2300 - 1 space in addition to the 2 spaces between 0700-

1900

1900-0700 - 1 space

Scarborough:

day shift - 2 spaces evening shift - 2 spaces night shift - 1 space

The cost of parking at D'Arcy Street will be three dollars (\$3.00) per shift for nurses using the parking during the day and evening shifts. There will be no charge for parking on the night shift.

When shift changes take place, additional parking space will be made available for one-half (½) hour to accommodate the changes in shift.

17.11 The Employer will provide meals to nurses requesting such meals provided that the nurse shall pay the following rates for such meals:

Dinner: \$4.00

Lunch: \$4.00

Breakfast: \$3.00

The nurse shall notify the Employer at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of her intention to purchase a meal whenever possible.

ARTICLE 18 – BENEFITS

- 18.01 (a) The Employer will pay one hundred (100%) percent of the Ontario Health Insurance Plan through the Employer Health Tax.
 - (b) The Employer will pay one hundred (100%) percent of the cost of one and one-half (1½) times her annual salary of Life Insurance for all full-time nurses. This policy will include Accidental Death and Dismemberment in the same amount as the Life Insurance.
- 18.02 The Employer agrees to contribute 100% of the cost of the single/family premium for full-time nurses who have completed their probationary period for the following benefits:
 - (a) The Employer agrees to implement an Extended Health Care \$10.00/\$20.00 deductible, no co-insurance plan. If a nurse is otherwise covered, the Employer shall not be obliged to contribute. Effective the first billing month after the date of award February 7, 2020, the Employer shall provide hearing aid coverage (\$700.00 every thirty-six (36) months per person) and a vision care coverage rider of \$400.00 per person every twenty-four (24) months; plus a vision exam valued at \$80.00 and the ability to use coverage for laser eye surgery. Predetermination is required for orthotics and Stocking/Support Hose claims.
 - (b) The Employer agrees to contribute 75% of the billed premiums towards Dental coverage of eligible nurses in the active employ of the Employer. The Employer agrees to implement a Dental Plan (equivalent to Blue Cross #9) based on current O.D.A. fee schedule to eligible full-time nurses who participate in the plan.
 - (c) The Employer shall continue to pay its share of the premiums for benefit plans for nurses who are on paid leave of absence. Nurses who are on layoff may continue to participate in the benefit plans, at their request, provided they prepay the premium amount prior to the first of the month of coverage. The Employer will pay the aforesaid benefits for employees on WSIB benefits in accordance with the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, as amended. The Employer shall pay the premiums for a nurse who is on sick leave and for retirees who are in receipt of HOOPP Permanent Disability Benefits to a maximum of thirty (30) months from the time the absence commenced.
 - (d) Reimbursement for prescribed drugs covered by the plan will be based on the cost of the lowest priced therapeutically equivalent generic version of the drug, unless there is a documented adverse reaction to the generic drug or unless the beneficiary's doctor

stipulates that the generic drug is not an alternative, in which case the reimbursement will be for the prescribed drug.

- (e) The Employer may substitute another carrier for any of the foregoing plans (other than OHIP) provided that the level of benefits conferred thereby are not decreased. The Employer will advise the Association of any change in carrier or underwriter at least thirty (30) days prior to implementing a change in carrier.
- 18.03 For newly hired full-time nurses, coverage as set out in Article 18.01 (a) (b) and 18.02 shall be effective the first billing date in the month following the month in which the nurse was first employed subject to any enrolment or other requirements of the Plan. In no instance shall the first billing date for a nurse occur later than the first day of the fourth full month following the month in which the newly-hired nurse was first employed.

18.04 Pension Plan

All present nurses enrolled in HOOPP (Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan) shall maintain their enrollment in the Plan subject to its terms and conditions. New nurses and nurses employed but not yet eligible for membership in the Plan shall, as a condition of employment, enroll in the Plan when eligible in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan.

18.05 Benefits Age 65 - 70

Semi-private hospital insurance, extended health care benefits and dental benefits will be extended to active full-time nurses from the age of sixty-five (65), and up to the nurse's seventieth (70th) birthday, on the same cost share basis as applies to those nurses under the age of sixty-five (65).

ARTICLE 19 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

- 19.01 (a) The Home will notify the Association of the names of all nurses off work due to a work related injury (whether or not the nurses are in receipt of WSIB benefits) and those on long term disability by the 15th of the month following commencement of the absence.
 - (b) The Employer will notify the Association, in writing, within twenty-four (24) hours of the Employer's knowledge of any nurse who has been assaulted or injured in the line of work.
 - (c) When it has been medically determined that an employee is unable to return to the full duties of her position due to a disability, the Home will notify and meet with the staff representative of the Ontario Nurses' Association and a member of the Local executive

to discuss the circumstances surrounding the employee's return to suitable work.

Any agreement resulting from these discussions which conflicts with the Collective Agreement shall, subject to agreement by the Union, prevail over any provision of this agreement in the event of a conflict.

- (d) The Home agrees to provide the employee with a copy of the Workers' Compensation Board Form 7 at the same time as it is sent to the Board.
- (e) In the event that the nurse's eye glasses are broken by assault or injury in the line of work, the Employer will reimburse the nurse for the cost of replacement up to \$200.00 upon production of a receipt.
- (f) In the event that the nurse's uniform is ruined by assault or injury in the line of work, the Employer will reimburse the nurse for the cost of replacement up to \$50.00 upon production of a receipt.
- (g) The Employer will ensure adequate stocks of the N95 respirator (or such other personal protective equipment as the parties may in writing agree) to be made available to nurses at short notice in the event there are reasonable indications of the emergence of a pandemic.
- (h) In the event there are reasonable indications of the emergence of a pandemic any nurse working at more than one health care facility will, upon the request of the Employer, provide information of such employment to the Employer. No consequence will flow from such disclosure, other than as strictly necessary to prevent the spread of infection.

19.02 Needle Stick and Sharps Injuries

The facility, in consultation with the local Joint Health and Safety Committee, shall develop, implement and monitor a program for the prevention of needle stick and sharp injuries and the treatment of such injuries should they occur. The program should include and address employee training and education with respect to needle stick and sharps injury prevention, and provide for the maintenance of a needle stick/sharps injuries log to detail incidents. The program shall be evaluated annually by the Employer at each site in consultation with its Joint Health and Safety Committee.

19.03 Musculoskeletal Injury and Prevention and Control

1. The site, in consultation with the local Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC), shall develop, establish and put into effect,

musculoskeletal prevention and control measures, procedures, practices and training for the health and safety of employees.

2. The site will provide training on musculoskeletal prevention and control measures, procedures, practices and equipment to all existing employees, and for newly hired employee's during their orientation and thereafter as required.

19.04 Violence Prevention and Control

The Employer agrees that no form of verbal, physical, sexual, racial or other abuse of employees will be condoned in the workplace.

- (a) The Employer in consultation with the Joint Health and Safety Committee shall develop, establish and put into effect, violence prevention and control measures, procedures, practices, equipment and training for the health and safety of workers.
- (b) At least once a year the violence prevention and control measures, procedures, practices, equipment and training shall be reviewed and revised in the light of current knowledge and practice.
- (c) The review and revision shall be done more frequently than annually if:
 - (i) the employer, on the advice of the joint health and safety committee or health and safety representative, if any, determines that such review and revision is necessary; or
 - ii) there is a change in circumstances that may affect the health and safety of a worker.
- (d) The Employer will provide training on violence prevention and control measures, procedures, practices and equipment to all employees during a new employee's orientation.

ARTICLE 20 - PROFESSIONAL

- In the event that the Employer assigns a number of residents or a workload to an individual nurse or group of nurses, such that she or they have cause to believe that she or they are being asked to perform more work than is consistent with proper resident care, she or they shall:
 - (a) i) Complain in writing to the Director of Resident Care or designate within fifteen (15) calendar days of the alleged improper assignment. The chairperson of the Management Association Committee shall convene a meeting of the committee within fifteen (15) calendar days of the filing of the

complaint. The committee shall hear and attempt to resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties.

- ii) Failing resolution of the complaint within fifteen (15) calendar days of the meeting of the Management Association Committee, the complaint shall be forwarded to an independent assessment committee composed of three (3) registered nurses; one (1) chosen by the Ontario Nurses' Association, one (1) chosen by the Employer and one (1) chosen from a panel of five (5) independent registered nurses who are well respected within the profession and have experience in the field of Homes for the Aged. The member of the committee chosen from the panel of independent registered nurses shall act as chairperson.
- iii) The Assessment Committee shall set a date to conduct a hearing into the complaint within twenty-one (21) calendar days of its appointment, and shall be empowered to investigate as is necessary, and to make what findings as are appropriate under the circumstances. The Assessment Committee shall report its findings in writing, to the parties within twenty-one (21) calendar days following completion of its hearing.
- (b) i) The list of the Assessment Committee is attached as Schedule "B" and forms part of this Agreement.

The members of the panel shall sit in rotation as agreed by the parties. If a panel member is unable or unwilling to sit within the time limit stipulated, the panel member next on the list will be appointed by the parties.

- ii) Each party will bear the cost of its own nominee and will share equally the fee of the chairperson, and whatever other expenses are included by the Assessment Committee in the performance of its responsibilities as set out herein.
- 20.02 (a) When required by a certifying body to update an employee's qualifications, the Employer shall grant a leave of absence without pay which shall include the time required to write any examinations.
 - (b) The Employer is not required to provide the nurse with alternate hours of work or to guarantee hours of work to any nurse who takes such leave of absence.
- 20.03 It shall be the responsibility of each nurse to notify the Home promptly of any change in address (Permanent or Temporary). If a nurse fails to do this, the Home will not be responsible for failure of a notice sent by mail to

reach such a nurse. A nurse shall notify the Home of any change to her or his telephone number.

<u>ARTICLE 21 - ORIENTATION AND IN-SERVICE</u>

- 21.01 It is agreed that orientation and inservice programmes will be provided to all nurses; these programmes shall be reviewed and updated from time to time by members of the Management Association Committee.
- 21.02 The following minimums are to be observed in the orientation familiarization of a nurse:
 - entitled (a) newly employed nurse shall be to an orientation/familiarization period in accordance with Article 21.02 shall placed charge and not be in until such orientation/familiarization period has been completed. This orientation/familiarization requirement shall also apply when a nurse is transferred to the alternate site.
 - (b) A period of orientation-familiarization shall be at least two (2) tours on each of the following shifts: days, evenings and nights, as applicable.
 - (c) She shall be an additional nurse to the usual staffing pattern;
 - (d) The nurse or nurses involved in the orientation familiarization will confirm that it has been completed, and this will be noted on the newly hired nurse's personnel file, which will be reviewed with such nurse, and the nurse shall also be able to comment.
- 21.03 The in-service education program shall be based on the following principles:
 - (a) It shall be based on learning needs or requirements identified by the Employer and learning needs identified by nurses.
 - (b) It shall be a planned program to update nurses as to changes in procedures or practices.
 - (c) The Employer will attempt to schedule all in-service education programmes in a manner which will allow all nurses to attend during working hours. Nurses who are required to attend such programmes outside their working hours shall be paid at their regular rate of pay.
- 21.04 Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from the nurse, the Employer will provide the nurse with a letter detailing her or his employment dates, length of service and experience at the Home.

ARTICLE 22 – COMPENSATION

The salary rates in effect during the term of this agreement shall be those set forth in Appendix "A" attached to and forming part of this agreement.

22.02 Retroactivity

Except as otherwise provided, the terms of this Agreement are effective the date of ratification or the issued award. Any nurse who has left the employ of the Employer and is entitled to retroactivity will be contacted by the Employer within thirty (30) days following ratification. The Employer's letter in this regard will advise the terminated nurse of the entitlement to apply for retroactive salary and the method by which application is to be made.

All retroactivity shall be paid within three (3) pay periods of ratification by both parties or the issued award, and if so paid shall not bear interest. Retroactivity paid later than the six (6) week period shall include interest calculated at the bank rate on fifty percent (50%) of the total of retroactivity accumulated as of the date of payment. Retroactivity shall be paid out on a separate itemized cheque.

- 22.03 Each nurse shall be placed on the salary grid in accordance with her service with the Employer, including full recognition of her past nursing experience as set out in 22.06 (a).
- A graduate nurse in the employ of the Employer upon presenting proof of a current Certificate of Competence by the College of Nurses of Ontario shall be given the salary of the registered staff nurse as provided in this Article retroactive to the date of certification or the date of last hire, whichever is later.
- 22.05 Effective January 1, 2013, a nurse who is designated to temporarily relieve the Director of Resident Care, shall be paid one dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) per hour in addition to her salary.
- 22.06 (a) Claim for recent related RN experience, if any, shall be made in writing by the employee at the time of hiring on the application for employment form. On hiring, nurses shall receive recognition for past nursing experience on the basis that for every year of related nursing experience the nurse will receive one (1) annual increment up to a maximum of the salary scale. For the purpose of this Article, fifteen hundred (1500) hours of part-time service shall equal one (1) year of full-time service and vice versa.

Each nurse shall be placed at the level on the grid on which she would have been on that date if credit had been granted on this basis at the time she was hired. Anniversary dates shall not be

affected by any adjustment on the grid resulting from this provision, and movement up the grid shall continue.

- (b) The annual increment shall be paid on each nurse's anniversary date of employment and after each fifteen hundred (1500) hours paid in the case of part-time nurses.
- 22.07 Effective April 1, 2019, the Employer shall, when no supervisor is available, designate at least one employee to be in charge from 1700 to 0900 and all hours on the weekend (from Friday 1700 to Monday 0700) and holidays. Such employee shall receive one dollar and ninety five cents (\$1.95) per hour in addition to her or his regular salary and applicable premium allowance.

The employee working the extended tour on the above-noted shifts is designated to be in charge. If the schedule is modified in such a way as to eliminate extended tours or to create uncertainty about the application of this clause, the parties will meet to discuss appropriate modifications, if any, or application of the clause.

22.08 When a new classification in the bargaining unit is established by the Employer or the Employer makes a substantial change in the job content of an existing classification which in reality causes such classification to become a new classification, or where a nurse alleges she has been improperly classified, the Employer shall advise the Association of such new or changed classification and the rate of pay established. requested, the Employer agrees to meet with the Association to review the appropriate rate of pay providing any such meeting shall not delay the implementation of the new classification. Where the Association challenges the rate of pay established by the Employer and the matter is not resolved following any meeting with the Association, a grievance may be filed at Step #2 of the grievance procedure within seven (7) calendar days following any meeting. If the matter is not resolved in the grievance procedure it may be referred to arbitration.

> Any change in the rate established by the Employer through meetings with the Association or by a Board of Arbitration or Arbitrator shall be retroactive to the time at which the new or changed classification was first filled.

22.09 Uniform Allowance

Full-time nurses will receive a uniform allowance of two dollars and twenty five cents (\$2.25) per week.

Regular part-time nurses will receive a uniform allowance of two dollars and twenty five cents (\$2.25) per week in any week she works two or more tours and one dollar and ten cents (\$1.10) per week for each week she works only one tour.

A graduate nurse shall be paid \$50.00 per month less than the registered nurse classification.

ARTICLE 23 – DURATION

- 23.01 This Agreement shall be in effect to March 31, 2022, and shall remain in effect from year to year thereafter unless either party gives the party written notice of termination or desire to amend the agreement.
- Notice that amendments are required or that either party desires to terminate this agreement may only be given within a period of ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date of this agreement or to any anniversary of such expiration date.

Dated at Toronto	, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> day of, <u>December 2022</u>
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
Stella Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer
Alan Hui	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President
Grace Lo	Grace Liu
Wendy Tai	Grace Ding

APPENDIX "A"

SALARY SCHEDULE

The salary rates in effect during the term of this Agreement shall be those set forth in Appendix "A" attached to and forming part of this Agreement. The hourly wage schedule for a Registered Nurse shall be as follows:

<u>Classification – Registered Nurse</u>

Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
April 1, 2019	<u> April 1, 2020</u>	<u>April 1, 2021</u>	October 1, 2021
\$32.86	\$33.19	\$33.77	\$34.02
\$33.01	\$33.34	\$33.92	\$34.17
\$33.56	\$33.90	\$34.49	\$34.75
\$35.22	\$35.57	\$36.19	\$36.46
\$36.88	\$37.25	\$37.90	\$38.18
\$38.96	\$39.35	\$40.04	\$40.34
\$41.05	\$41.46	\$42.19	\$42.51
\$43.15	\$43.58	\$44.34	\$44.67
\$46.22	\$46.68	\$47.50	\$47.86
\$47.04	\$47.51	\$48.34	\$48.70
	\$32.86 \$33.01 \$33.56 \$35.22 \$36.88 \$38.96 \$41.05 \$43.15 \$46.22	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2020 \$32.86 \$33.19 \$33.01 \$33.34 \$33.56 \$33.90 \$35.22 \$35.57 \$36.88 \$37.25 \$38.96 \$39.35 \$41.05 \$41.46 \$43.15 \$43.58 \$46.22 \$46.68	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2020 April 1, 2021 \$32.86 \$33.19 \$33.77 \$33.01 \$33.34 \$33.92 \$33.56 \$33.90 \$34.49 \$35.22 \$35.57 \$36.19 \$36.88 \$37.25 \$37.90 \$38.96 \$39.35 \$40.04 \$41.05 \$41.46 \$42.19 \$43.15 \$43.58 \$44.34 \$46.22 \$46.68 \$47.50

- (a) The parties agree to maintain the percentage differentials in the wage rates which presently exist between the classification of Registered Nurse and the other classifications which are covered by the Collective Agreement.
- (b) The hourly salary rates, inclusive of the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits in effect during the term of this Agreement for all regular and casual part-time nurses shall be those calculated in accordance with the following formula:

Applicable straight time hourly rate + 13% or 9% as applicable

(c) The hourly salary rates payable to a regular or casual part-time nurse include compensation in lieu of all fringe benefits which are paid to full-time nurses except those specifically provided to part-time nurses in this Agreement. It is understood and agreed that holiday pay is included within the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits. It is further understood and agreed that pension is included within the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all part-time nurses may, on a voluntary basis, enroll in the Employers' Pension Plan when eligible in accordance with its terms and conditions. For part-time nurses who are

members of the Pension Plan, the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits is nine percent (9%).

It is understood and agreed that the part-time nurses' hourly rate (or straight time hourly rate) in this Agreement does not include the additional nine percent (9%) or thirteen percent (13%), as applicable, which is paid in lieu of fringe benefits and accordingly the nine percent (9%) or thirteen percent (13%), as applicable, add on payment in lieu of fringe benefits will not be included for the purpose of computing any premium or overtime payments.

Dated at Toronto .	, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> day of <u>December</u> , <u>2022</u>
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
Stella Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer
<u>Alan Hui</u>	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President
Grace Lo	Grace Ding
Wendy Tai	Grace Liu

APPENDIX "B"

ROSTER OF CHAIRPERSONS FOR THE NURSING ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE

Re: Roster of Chairpersons for the Nursing Assessment Committee for Homes/Homes for the Aged

Should a dispute arise in accordance with the procedure established under Article 20, the parties agree to meet to discuss the selection of a Nursing Assessment Committee Chairperson.

APPENDIX "C"

GRIEVANCE FORM

	ASSOCIATIO	N DES INFIRMIERE	ESELINFIRM	HERS DE L'ON I	ARIO ON
		GRIEVANCE REPOR	T / RAPPORT DE	GRIEF	
	ON LOCALE EMPLOYE	R		STEP ÉTAPE	DATE SUBMITTED TO EMPLOYER DATE DE SOUMISSION À L'EMPLOYEUR
DE L'A	/OR	on		1.	
DEPA	RTMENT		GRIEVANCE NO.	2.	
SERV	ICE		N° DU GRIEF	٥.	
		SETTLEMENT REQUEST	ED / RÈGLEMENT D	DEMANDĖ	
GNATI	URE OF GRIEVOR:			SSOCIATION REP:	
GNATI	URE OF GRIEVOR: URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE:		SIGNATURE OF A SIGNATURE DE L		
GNATI GNATI	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE:	R / RÉPONSE DE L'EMPLOYE	SIGNATURE DE L		
GNATI EP IE EM- RE	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE:	R / RÉPONSE DE L'EMPLOYE	SIGNATURE DE L	A RÉP. DE L'AIIO: CATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RÉCEPTIO DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI	IN DU SYNDICAT: O THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICAT:
GNATI EP IE EM- RE	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE:	R / RÉPONSE DE L'EMPLOYE	SIGNATURE DE L	A RÉP. DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RÉCEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI	IN DU SYNDICAT: O THE UNION:
EP IE EM-RE PE	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: DATE DE RÉCEPTION PAR LE SYNDICATE.	R / RÉPONSE DE L'EMPLOYE	SIGNATURE DE LI	A RÉP. DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RÉCEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI	IN DU SYNDICAE O THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICAT: ON AU SYNDICAT: HE A DISTITION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE HE ET TITRE DU REPRESENTANT DE L'EMPLOYEUR IOM THE UNION:
EPP IE	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: DATE DE RÉCEPTION PAR LE SYNDICATE.		SIGNATURE DE LI	A RÊP DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIO DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI	IN DU SYNDICATE O THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICAT: WE A POSITION OF EMPLOYER'S REPRESENTATIVE BET TITHE DU REPRESENTANT DE L'EMPLOYEUR HOM THE UNION: NO DU SYNDICAT: OT THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICATE:
EP EP EP IO UX-	URE DE LA PLAIGNANTE: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: DATE DE RÉCEPTION PAR LE SYNDICATE.		SIGNATURE DE LI	A RÊP DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE DE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMANIE	IN DU SYNDICATE O THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICAT: ELE A DOSTRION OF EMPLOYER'S REPRESENTATIVE ELE TITRE DU REPRESENTANT DE L'EMPLOYEUR HOM THE UNION: N DU SYNDICAT: O THE UNION:
EPP IE	DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION:		SIGNATURE DE LI	A RÊP DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE DE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMANIE	IN DU SYNDICATE OTHE UNION: ON AU SYNDICATE IN A POSITION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE E ET TITRE DU REPRESENTANT DE L'EMPLOYEUR IOM THE UNION: IN DU SYNDICATE OTHE UNION: ON AU SYNDICATE RE A POSITION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE RE ET TITRE DU REPRÉSENTANT DE L'EMPLOYEUR ROM THE UNION:
EP IIE EM- BEP I/O JX- ME PE	DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION: EMPLOYER'S ANSWE DATE RECEIVED BY THE UNION:	ER / RÉPONSE DE L'EMPLOYE	SIGNATURE DE LI	A RÊP DE L'AIIO: DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIO DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR DATE DE RECEPTIC DATE SUBMITTED T DATE DE SOUMISSI SIGNATUR DATE RECEIVED FR	IN DU SYNDICATE O THE UNION: ON AU SYNDICAT: IN A POSITION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE IN ELECTRIFICATION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE IN DU SYNDICAT: ON AU SYNDICAT: ON AU SYNDICAT: ON AU SYNDICAT: IN ELECTRIFICATION OF EMPLOYERS REPRESENTATIVE IN DU SYNDICAT: IN DU SYNDICAT: IN DU SYNDICAT: IN DU SYNDICATE IN DU SYN

Between:				
MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED				
And:				
ONTARIO NU	RSES' ASSOCIATION			
Re: Effect of Agreement Pursuant t	to Article 19.01 (c)			
The Union agrees that it will not purs affected by an agreement reached purs	sue the grievance of a nurse who is adversely uant to Article 19.01 (c).			
Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> d	ay of <u>December</u> , <u>2022</u> .			
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION			
Stella Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer			
Alan Hui	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President			
Grace Lo	Grace Ding			
Wendy Tai	Grace Liu			

Between:	
MON SHEONG	HOME FOR THE AGED
And:	
ONTARIO NUI	RSES' ASSOCIATION
Re: Selection Of Chairperson for the	he Nursing Assessment Committee
The Parties agree that the individual lis Employer will be used first.	ted in Appendix B geographically closest to the
Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> da	ay of <u>December</u> , <u>2022</u> .
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
Stella Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer
Alan Hui	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President
Grace Lo	Grace Ding
Wendy Tai	Grace Liu

Between:				
MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED				
And:				
ONTARIO NU	RSES' ASSOCIATION			
Re: Liability Insurance				
Professions Act, be required to provide liability insurance, the Home, upon	Ith Professional under the Regulated Health le her or his Regulatory College with proof of request from the employee, will provide the ne's liability coverage for Health Professionals in			
Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> d	ay of <u>December</u> , <u>2022</u> .			
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION			
Stella Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer			
Alan Hui	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President			
Grace Lo	Grace Ding			
Wendy Tai	Grace Liu			

Between:

MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED (hereinafter called the "Employer")

(MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED & MON SHEONG SCARBOROUGH LONG TERM CARE CENTRE)

And:

ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION

Re:	Staffing			
MON	SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED	<u>)</u>		
The E	mployer will assign at least 247.5	total bargaining unit RN hours week	dy.	
MON	SHEONG SCARBOROUGH LONG	G TERM CARE CENTRE		
The E	mployer will assign at least 172.5	total bargaining unit RN hours week	dy.	
Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this <u>1st</u> day of <u>December</u> , <u>2022</u> .				
FOR ⁻	THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION		
<u>Stella</u>	Leung	Sheri Street LRO ONA Labour Relations Officer		
Alan I	Hui	Esther Chan Bargaining Unit President		
Grace	e Lo	Grace Ding		
Wend	y Tai	Grace Liu	MONSH01.C22	

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

MON SHEONG HOME FOR THE AGED and MON SHEONG SCARBOROUGH LONG TERM CARE CENTRE

("the Employer")

And

ONTARIO NURSES ASSOCIATION

("the Union")

Re: Bill 124 Re-opener

WHEREAS the Board of interest arbitration chaired by Eli Gedalof issued an interest arbitration award on February 7, 2020, settling the terms of the collective agreement between Mon Sheong Home for the Aged and Mon Sheong Scarborough Long Term Care Centre and the Ontario Nurses' Association for the period April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2020;

AND WHEREAS the Board of interest arbitration chaired by Russell Goodfellow issued an interest arbitration award on August 25, 2022, settling the terms of the collective agreement between Mon Sheong Home for the Aged and Mon Sheong Scarborough Long Term Care Centre and the Ontario Nurses' Association for the period April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2022;

AND WHEREAS these collective agreements were all subject to the compensation restraint provisions of the *Protecting a Sustainable Public Sector for Future Generations Act*, 2019 (referred to as "Bill 124") which imposed a 3-year "moderation period" during which the parties and Boards of interest arbitration were required to restrict any increases to wages or total compensation to 1% per year;

AND WHEREAS the 3-year moderation period under Bill 124 between these parties was April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2021;

AND WHEREAS by decision dated November 29, 2022, Justice Koehnen of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice found that Bill 124 was contrary to s. 2(d) of the Charter, not justified under s.1 of the Charter, and declared Bill 124 to be void and of no effect (Ontario English Catholic Teachers Assoc. et al. v. His Majesty, 2022, ONSC 6658 (the "Koehnen decision");

AND WHEREAS the Koehnen decision is currently under appeal at the Ontario Court of Appeal and a decision is pending;

AND WHEREAS the Union requested the interest boards chaired by Eli Gedalof and Russell Goodfellow to reconvene to hear and determine the reopener;

AND WHEREAS the parties agreed that henceforth all matters concerning the reopener for the 3-year moderation period would be referred to the Gedalof Board instead of split between the Gedalof and Goodfellow Boards;

AND WHEREAS the parties wish to resolve the issues related to the reopener without resort to a reopener interest arbitration award;

NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows on a without precedent and without prejudice basis:

- 1. The above recitals are true and correct and the definitions therein apply throughout this Settlement.
- 2. Retroactive to April 1, 2018, apply a 0.4% across the board wage increase (i.e. an additional 0.4% on top of the 1% increase provided for in the prior Gedalof award).
- 3. Retroactive to April 1, 2019, apply a 0.75% across the board wage increase (i.e. an additional 0.75% on top of the 1% increase provided for in the prior Gedalof award).
- 4. Retroactive to April 1, 2020, apply a 0.75% across the board wage increase (i.e. an additional 0.75% on top of the 1% increase provided for in the prior Goodfellow award).
- 5. It is understood that Appendix A will be updated as follows to reflect the rates outlined in paragraphs 2, 3 and 4:

	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	<u> April 1, 2018</u>	<u>April 1, 2019</u>	April 1, 2020	April 1, 2021	October 1, 2021
Start	\$32.66	\$33.23	\$33.81	\$34.40	\$34.66
1 Year	\$32.81	\$33.38	\$33.96	\$34.55	\$34.81
2 Years	\$33.36	\$33.94	\$34.53	\$35.13	\$35.39
3 Years	\$35.00	\$35.61	\$36.23	\$36.86	\$37.14
4 Years	\$36.66	\$37.30	\$37.95	\$38.61	\$38.90
5 Years	\$38.72	\$39.40	\$40.09	\$40.79	\$41.10
6 Years	\$40.80	\$41.51	\$42.24	\$42.98	\$43.30
7 Years	\$42.89	\$43.64	\$44.40	\$45.18	\$45.52
8 Years	\$45.94	\$46.74	\$47.56	\$48.39	\$48.75
25 Years	\$46.76	\$47.58	\$48.41	\$49.26	\$49.63

- 6. The Employer shall provide all retroactivity to current employees within two (2) full pay periods from the date that this Memorandum of Agreement is signed by both parties. All retroactivity will be paid to current employees on a separate cheque or itemized on an employee's regular cheque. Where employees either have left the employ of the Employer and/or have entered into the employ of the Employer between April 1, 2018 and March 31, 2021, they shall be entitled to the pro-rated amount of such payments.
- 7. All former employees who worked on or between these dates shall be sent notice by the Employer at their last known address and the employee will have thirty (30) calendar days from the date notice is sent to claim retroactive payments.

The notice sent to them shall advise that their entitlement to retroactive payments shall be deemed declined if not claimed within thirty (30) days of such notice by email or letter delivered to the Employer in person or facsimile. Payment to former employees who have made claims as required herein shall be made within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the employee's claim. The Union shall receive a copy of all notices sent to former employees.

8. In the event that the appeal is allowed at either the Ontario Court of Appeal or the Supreme Court of Canada, the Gedalof Board will remain seized with respect to a re-opener if the Bill 124 appeal is successful, or a stay is granted and until this Memorandum of Agreement is implemented. The Gedalof Board

HLDAA.	
Dated this 20 day of December, 2023.	
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
_Wendy Tai	_Esther Chan_

Stella Leung

will also continue to remain seized in accordance with subsection 9(2) of

Kayla Sanger